
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
VILLAGE BOARD 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2015-10 
 

RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF SUBMITTING A “PARTNERS FOR RECREATION 
AND CONSERVATION” (PARC) GRANT APPLICATION TO DANE COUNTY 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills Board has adopted a Comprehensive Plan that 
encourages improvements to enhance the pedestrian and bicycle friendliness throughout the 
Village; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Comprehensive Plan specifically maps a future bicycle path connection 
from University Bay Drive to Purdue Street; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Madison Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) shows said bicycle 
path in its 2000 Bicycle Transportation Plan for the Madison Urban Area and Dane County, and 
has included the path connection in its Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for 2013-
2017, but has not programmed a funding source for the improvement; and 
 
WHEREAS, said bicycle path connection represents a missing link that, once constructed, will 
greatly improve bicyclist safety and mobility along a popular regional bicycle route connecting 
the City of Middleton with the UW Campus and Downtown Madison; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills has sufficient funds budgeted in its Tax Increment 
District No. 3 Project Plan to provide the appropriate match for the PARC Grant funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills required a redevelopment project by Stone House 
Development, which was completed August 2013 and a redevelopment project by Krupp 
General Contractors, to be completed in 2016 to include dedication of the linear footage of Phase 
1B of the proposed bicycle path connection adjacent to University Bay Drive; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills has designated the Marshall Court corridor as one 
of its “Smart Growth Redevelopment Areas” in its Comprehensive Plan, and expects 
redevelopment interest to continue in the future; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills would like to encourage future redevelopment in 
the Marshall Court area, and throughout the University Avenue corridor, to maximize bicycle 
use as a way of mitigating the impact of increased development density on car traffic; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills hereby authorizes 
 
     Karl Frantz, Village Administrator  
 
to act on its behalf to submit an application for financial assistance to the County of Dane under 
the Dane County PARC & Ride Bicycle Trail Grant Program for the purposes described below; 
to sign documents; and to take action necessary to undertake, direct, and complete an approved 
Dane County PARC & Ride Bicycle Trail grant project: 

Page 1 of 2 































































Resolution R – 2015 – 11 
 

Of the Village of Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin, 
Providing a Health Insurance Op-Out Incentive  

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Shorewood Hills provides health insurance benefits to 
eligible employees through the State of Wisconsin Employee Trust Fund’s health 
insurance plan for local government employees; 
  
WHEREAS, State rules regulating the program previously prohibited 
participating employers from offering an incentive for employees who elect to 
not participate in the health insurance program; 
 
WHEREAS, effective with the 2016 plan year, State regulations allow local 
government employers to offer an opt-out incentive; 
 
WHEREAS, the Village’s share of the health insurance premium in 2016 will be 
$16,650.36 for a family plan and $6,698.16 for a single plan and there are 
currently six employees eligible for health insurance who have chosen to not 
enroll in the program, saving the Village significant expense annually, some for 
many years;   
 
WHEREAS, there may also be other employees enrolled in the Village plan who, 
if provided this incentive, could elect to participate in alternative health 
insurance plans, providing them and the Village a financial advantage; 
 
WHEREAS, the Village encourages employees eligible for health insurance to 
enroll in Shorewood Hills’ plan unless they have other suitable options to obtain 
health insurance that makes opting out a safe decision without compromising 
their healthcare;  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Village of Shorewood Hills will provide 
full time employees who are eligible for health insurance coverage through the 
Village but decline it, a $2,000 annual incentive to be paid out in equal 
installments coinciding with the biweekly Village payroll; 
 
The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Shorewood Hills at a legal meeting on the 19th day of October, 2015. 
 
 
     APPROVED:       

  Mark L Sundquist, President 
 
Attest:       

        Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 
 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN  
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS, WI  

AND  
CARLSON DETTMANN CONSULTING, LLC 

 
This professional service agreement (hereinafter the “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into by and between the Village of Shorewood Hills, WI (hereinafter “the Client”) 
and Carlson Dettmann Consulting, LLC, a Wisconsin limited-liability company 
(hereinafter “Consultant”). 

 
WHEREAS, Consultant assisted the Client in developing its current pay plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, labor markets in the region have changed substantially, and the Client 

is concerned about continuing market competitiveness; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Client wishes to enter into an agreement with Consultant to provide 
professional consulting services for market measurement and pay plan management 
services.   
 

THEREFORE, the Client and Consultant agree to the following: 
 

1. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from date of signing until terminated 
by the Client or the Consultant. 

2. Scope of Services.  The Consultant shall provide to the Client consulting 
services as follows: 
a) Market study update.  Consultant will measure labor markets for the Client.   
b) Consultant will include data that reflect private sector benchmarks from its 

data library for those jobs that it can match.  All data will be provided in 
summary form. 

c) Consultant will review turnover, current hiring practices and internal policy 
controls on recruitment and recommend policy adjustments as appropriate. 

d) Consultant will provide a revised pay plan structure for 2016 based upon the 
market study. 

e) Consultant will continue to provide job evaluation services under the terms of 
the current agreement. 

 
3. Fees.  The Client shall pay the Consultant at the following rates for services 

agreed upon: 

a) Market study update.  The professional fee for the market summary 
update from item a) above shall be $5,000 with $2,500 paid upon 
contract signing and the balance due upon submission of the summary 
report. 

b) Job evaluations.  The professional fee will continue to be $250 per 
evaluation. 



 
 

c) Consultant services agreed upon that are greater than the scope of this 
Agreement shall be at Consultant’s normal rates unless agreed upon 
otherwise by the Client and Consultant.  The normal hourly rates for 
Consultant are: 

Carlson - $250/hr. 
Glynn - $200/hr. 
Bidwell - $175/hr. 

d) The Client will reimburse Consultant for “out-of-pocket” expenses for 
mileage, meals, or lodging as required for meeting attendance on the 
Client’s behalf. 

4. Performance Requirements of Consultant.  The Consultant shall complete the 
services as stated above.  The Consultant shall furnish all labor, materials, 
administration, services, supplies, equipment, transportation, and quality control 
necessary to provide professional consulting services.  Consultant shall provide 
progress reports upon request by the Client.   

5. Performance Requirements of Client.  The Client shall provide and make 
available to the Consultant access to its human resources and related systems 
of record as necessary to fulfill said services.   

6. Independent Contractor.  It is mutually understood and agreed, and it is the 
intent of the parties hereto, that an independent contractor relationship be and 
is hereby established under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The 
Consultant shall remain an independent contractor under this Agreement.  All 
employees of Consultant or subcontractors shall remain the responsibility of the 
Consultant and shall not become employees of the Client under this 
Agreement.  No tenure or any rights or benefits, including worker’s 
compensation, unemployment insurance, medical care, sick leave, vacation 
leave, severance pay, withholding taxes or other benefits available to Client 
employees shall accrue to the Consultant or its employees performing services 
under this Agreement.   

7. Indemnification.  The Consultant agrees it shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the Client, its officers, and its employees against any and all liability, 
losses, costs, damages, and expenses, including attorney fees that the Client, 
its officers or its employees, may hereafter sustain, incur or be required to pay 
arising out of the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of the Consultant, its 
officers or employees. The Client agrees it shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the Consultant, its officers, and its employees against any and all 
liability, losses, costs, damages, and expenses, including attorney fees that the 
Consultant, its officers or its employees, may hereafter sustain, incur or be 
required to pay arising out of the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of 
the Client, its officers or employees. 

8. Trade Secrets. The Carlson Dettmann Point Factor Job Evaluation System and 
methodology, marketplace surveys performed, Total Rewards Management 
System, and job point evaluation data collected and analyzed to perform the 

 2



 
 

 3

Scope of Services is owned by Consultant, is confidential and proprietary, and is 
a trade secret pursuant to Wis. Stats. s. 134.90.  Client (including its officers, 
employees, agents and representatives) shall not disclose, disseminate, or 
otherwise misappropriate these trade secrets without the express consent of 
Consultant.  

9. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin in effect on the date of this 
Agreement.   

10. Assignment.  Neither party to this Agreement may assign or transfer this 
Agreement, or any part thereof, without the written consent of the other party. 

11. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable, such provision shall be fully severable and this Agreement shall 
be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision 
had never comprised a part of the Agreement.  The remaining provisions shall 
remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable provision or by its severance. 

12. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the parties.  

13. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the 
parties and supersedes all prior arrangements and/or understandings, whether 
written or oral, with respect to the subject matter contained in this Agreement.  
No terms, conditions, warranties, other than those contained herein, and no 
amendments or modifications hereto shall be binding unless made in writing 
and signed by the Client and the Consultant.   

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS, WI    
 
 
 
   
Date:        
 
 
CARLSON DETTMANN CONSULTING, LLC  
 

 

      

Charles E. Carlson, Partner 
Date:    
 











VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS

SEPTEMBER 2015

Tax Increment 
Districts 
Annual Review



2

($5)

$0 

$5 

$10 

$15 

$20 

$25 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

A
m

ou
nt

 in
 M

ill
io

ns

Year

Village of Shorewood Hills: 
TID Increment Value

TID #3 TID #4

($5)

$0 

$5 

$10 

$15 

$20 

$25 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

A
m

ou
nt

 in
 M

ill
io

ns

Year

Village of Shorewood Hills: 
TID Increment Value

TID #3 TID #4

2015 Updates 
This annual report summarizes the financial 
expenditures and projections for Tax Increment 
Districts (TID) #3 and #4 in the Village of Shorewood 
Hills. Because the Village is landlocked it cannot 
annex land for new growth to generate tax base. 
Instead, the Village must pursue redevelopment 
projects. The Village has a history of responsible 
Tax Increment Financing (TIF) usage to encourage 
the redevelopment of underutilized commercial 
areas. Funds used in both of the districts enabled 
infrastructure upgrades and provided incentives 
to developers to offset the challenges to 
redevelopment. 

Since the late 2000’s, the Village of Shorewood Hills 
experienced an “urbanizing” of the Marshal Court/
Doctor’s Park Neighborhood with new offices, 
additional retail opportunities, and a mix of market 
rate and affordable multi-family housing. It also 
experienced the redevelopment of the Walnut 
Grove commercial area into a mixed use hub at 
the western edge of the Village.  However, the work 
is not done and several areas are ripe for further 
redevelopment. Specifically in TID #3, the Village 
Board is reviewing a request to redevelop the corner 
of University Avenue and Shorewood Boulevard 
(AT&T Plaza) into a mixed use property that would 
include 11,000 square feet of retail space and 38 
multi-family units. Stonehouse Development Inc. is 
in the preliminary stages of preparing a work plan 
for the second phase of Arbor Crossing – that could 
add nearly 80 additional market rate multi-family 
units and over 20 affordable multi-family units. This 
would help the Village achieve the task of realizing 
60 new affordable multi-family units. In TID #4 the 
Village Plan Commission is discussing the merits of the 
redevelopment of the Pyare Square Building into the 
second phase of “The Lodge at Walnut Grove”(The 
Lodge). This could add 86 market rate and eight 
affordable multi-family units to meet the growing 
demand for quality multi-family properties within the 
greater Madison region. 

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT #3
Statement of Change

TID #3 continues to be in solid financial condition. 
TID revenues continue to climb as redevelopment 
projects start to impact the revenue calculations; 
however, the 2015 equalized values reduced by 
$301,900. This reduction was largely the result of 
the Board of Review decision to reduce the 800 
University Bay Drive assessed value.  For the purposes 
of further analysis this report uses the equalized 
values reported from the Department of Revenue.

Tax Increment District #3 Projections
The full impact of Arbor Crossing on TIF revenue will 
be seen when the Village collects the 2015 taxes; 
thus raising the annual TID revenue to nearly $500,000 
since the creation of the district.  The TID is projected 
to end with an approximately $3,200,000 surplus with 
the following assumptions: 

1. Approximately $750,000 in borrowing for capital 
improvements (2015);

2. $30,000 in annual planned expenses;
3. Completion of two additional redevelopment 

projects that increase the TID’s taxable value 
by $17.8 million (700 University Bay Drive & AT&T 
Plaza);

4. Property values appreciate at 1% per year;
5. The current mill rate is maintained;
6. No further TID expenditures are made;
7. Final year taxes collected in 2029.

Point #6 is very important. After the Village Board 
approved $2,100,000 in development incentives 
for 700 University Bay Drive and initiated the 2015 
bonding to complete the bike path extension, 

700 University Bay Drive Plan (source: Knothe & Bruce Architects,LLC)



3

Marshall Court reconstruction, and the University Bay 
Drive extension, the TID has approximately $495,000 
to fund all remaining projects in the project plan. 
The developer for the AT&T Plaza redevelopment 
requested $1,095,000 in “Pay-Go” TIF assistance 
to help overcome redevelopment costs and the 
capitalized costs of four affordable housing units.  
The current TID plan cannot support this level of 
municipal involvement. Vierbicher will present a 
formal TIF review to the Village Board in the coming 
weeks.

The Village has several options if it wishes to see 
redevelopment of the site:

1. Remove the four affordable housing 
components and place them into Phase II 
of Arbor Crossing and limit a development 
agreement to $495,000. This would require the 
Village to eliminate all further expenditures from 
TID 3 unless the project plan was amended.  
This option would increase the assessed value 
of the site by $200,000, but would potentially 
reduce the assessed value to Arbor Crossing 
Phase II if the developer replaces market rates 
units with affordable units. 

2. Complete a project plan amendment to 
include additional spending in development 
incentives and other capital improvement 
projects listed in the current project plan. 

Either option will require the Village to create a new 
mixed use TID to assist with the redevelopment of 
Arbor Crossing Phase II and potentially University 
Station in the preferred “Pay-Go” scenarios.

If the Village is able to realize both 700 University Bay 
Drive and AT&T Plaza redevelopments then TID #3 
would see an additional $425,000 in annual revenue 
- totaling approximately $925,000 in new increment 
by 2019.  

TABLE 1: 2014 Cash Flow Summary

Life After TID #3
Continuing with the previously listed assumptions, 
the annual tax collection increase after TID #3 
closure would be approximately $1,200,000. The 
Village currently has a 22% share that would add 
nearly $270,000 to the annual tax collections. A 
general summary of the TID’s condition is included 
in Tables 1 and 2 and a detailed summary of TID #3 
financial projections are attached to the Appendix 
of this report.

Plan for Phase 2 of the Marshall Court reconstruction

Completed Phase 2 of the Marshall Court reconstruction.

Proposed AT&T Plaza Redevelopment (source: Flad Development)



4

Currently, the Village Plan Commission is discussing 
the merits of the redevelopment of the Pyare 
Square Building into the second phase of The 
Lodge. This would add 86 market rate and eight 
affordable rate multi-family units to meet the 
growing demand for quality multi-family properties 
in the greater Madison region. 

Under the initial analysis of the proposed 
redevelopment, the $2,490,000 financial assistance 
request is too large to overcome the lower 
assessed value than Oak Park Place. Therefore, 
if the Village wishes to continue with the current 
proposal a new blight or rehab TID would need 
to be created to overcome the imposing site 
limitations. The maximum financial assistance the 
Village could support in the current TID under a 
“Pay-go” scenario is approximately $1,500,000.

Life After TID #4
Continuing with the previously listed assumptions, 
the annual tax collection increase after TID #4 
closure would be approximately $525,000. The 
Village currently has a 22% share that would 
add approximately $117,000 to the annual tax 
collections. A general summary of the TID’s condition 
is included in Tables 1 and 2 and a detailed summary 
of TID #4 financial projections are attached to the 
Appendix of this report.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT #4 
Statement of Change

TID #4 had slightly decreased in value since its 
2010 creation until last year, when the portion of 
the value from the Walnut Grove redevelopment 
made the 2014 tax roles.  Because Walnut Grove 
was not complete as of January 1 2014, the full 
assessed value did not yet show up in the 2014 
Department of Revenue’s TID value report.  The 
developer agreement guaranteed that the project 
will generate at least $4,577,500 of additional 
value by the January 1, 2015 assessment. The 2015 
Department of Revenue’s TID value report illustrates 
an additional $5,100,000 in new assessment. The 
Village will see $250,000 increase in annual revenue 
when the full tax collections are realized.  

Tax Increment District #4 Projections
At the end of 2014, the TID had approximately 
$5.1 million remaining in project budget. Since no 
additional projects are being constructed at the 
time of this report, the projected revenues for TID 
#4 should remain relatively flat over the next few 
years, only increasing at the standard property 
appreciation rate. The TID is projected to end 
with an approximately $1,800,000 surplus with the 
following assumptions:

1. Approximately $115,000 in borrowing for 
capital improvements (2015);

2. Property values appreciate at 1% per year;
3. The current mill rate is maintained;
4. No further TID expenditures are made;
5. Final year taxes collected in 2031.

Point #4 is very important. It is unlikely the Village 
would see a redevelopment project the size and 
scale of the previous Oak Park Place proposal. 
The proposed value of that project was enough 
to overcome the large expenditures required to 
remove the Pyare Office Building (purchase and 
demolition costs). 

TABLE 2: Year-to-Date Increment Values

Proposed Lodge Phase II (source: Flad Development)



5

Other TIF Tools
TID Creation/Closure
If the Joint Review Board hesitates at the creation 
of two new TIDs over top of the existing TIDs, 
Vierbicher determined the Village could close 
TID #3 up to three years sooner and TID #4 up to 
five years sooner to help ease potential concerns 
of overlapping TIDs. The Village would have to 
use existing TID revenue to pay off the remaining 
debt early. To do so the Village would need to 
exercise the right to prepay the development 
agreement for the Walnut Grove redevelopment, 
700 University Bay Drive redevelopment, and any 
future agreement with the developers of the AT&T 
Plaza redevelopment. A sample of the closure 
scenarios is included as part of Table 4.

Road Reconstruction Funding
Under current assumptions listed above, the TID 
are expected to end with a combined surplus of 
approximately $5 million. The Village is expected 
to have a significant share of the University Avenue 
street reconstruction project slated to begin 
between 2020 and 2022. The Village could request 
project plan amendments between the two 
districts to increase the project plan expenses and/
or donate later year revenues to account for the 
Village of Shorewood Hills construction costs within 
a half-mile of the respective districts. Any donation 
would require JRB approval and the donor TID to 
pay off the aggregate of all project costs before 
donation (see closure scenario above). 

Housing Stock Improvement Program
After the aggregate of all project costs are paid 
for a TID, the Village may extend the life of a 
district for one year to improve the housing stock. 
The Village would be required to use 75% of the 
collected increments to further benefit affordable 
housing in the Village. Affordable housing defined 
as housing that costs a household no more than 30 
percent of the household’s gross monthly income. 
This program could help attract additional younger 
families to the Village. 

 

...the Village could close TID #3 up 
to three years sooner and TID #4 up 

to five years sooner if the Village 
wishes to use the TID revenue to 
pay off the remaining debt early.

TABLE 3: TID Tools

TABLE 4: Approximate TID Closure Values

Table 3 illustrates the summary of TID tools available 
to the Village. Vierbicher is available to discuss any 
of these additional tools with the Village Board. 



6

Appendix

 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

$12,845,900 Plus $8,379,500  added in 2010 amendment.

1.00%
0.00%

Previous Inflation Total Cumulative Tax TID Tax
Year Valuation Increment Improvements Land Valuation Increment Rate Revenue
2008 $12,845,900 $0 $697,600 $0 $13,543,500 $697,600 0.01778 $0
2009 $13,543,500 $0 $8,767,900 $0 $22,311,400 $9,465,500 0.01874 $0
2010 $22,311,400 $0 $10,351,300 $0 $32,662,700 $19,816,800 0.02017 $12,955

2011 $41,042,200 $0 ($8,775,100) $0 $32,267,100 $11,041,700 0.02079 $189,349
2012 $32,267,100 $0 $2,997,300 $0 $35,264,400 $14,039,000 0.02186 $408,701
2013 $35,264,400 $0 $7,972,400 $0 $43,236,800 $22,011,400 0.02246 $239,524
2014 $43,236,800 $0 $0 $0 $43,236,800 $22,011,400 0.02246 $312,931
2015 $42,934,900 $432,368 $3,899,498 $0 $47,266,766 $26,041,366 0.02246 $494,376
2016 $47,266,766 $472,668 $11,541,745 $0 $59,281,179 $38,055,779 0.02246 $494,376

2017 $59,281,179 $592,812 $2,416,387 $0 $62,290,378 $41,064,978 0.02246 $584,889
2018 $62,290,378 $622,904 $0 $0 $62,913,282 $41,687,882 0.02246 $854,733
2019 $62,913,282 $629,133 $0 $0 $63,542,414 $42,317,014 0.02246 $922,319

2020 $63,542,414 $635,424 $0 $0 $64,177,839 $42,952,439 0.02246 $936,310
2021 $64,177,839 $641,778 $0 $0 $64,819,617 $43,594,217 0.02246 $950,440
2022 $64,819,617 $648,196 $0 $0 $65,467,813 $44,242,413 0.02246 $964,712
2023 $65,467,813 $654,678 $0 $0 $66,122,491 $44,897,091 0.02246 $979,126
2024 $66,122,491 $661,225 $0 $0 $66,783,716 $45,558,316 0.02246 $993,685
2025 $66,783,716 $667,837 $0 $0 $67,451,553 $46,226,153 0.02246 $1,008,389

2026 $67,451,553 $674,516 $0 $0 $68,126,069 $46,900,669 0.02246 $1,023,240
2027 $68,126,069 $681,261 $0 $0 $68,807,330 $47,581,930 0.02246 $1,038,239
2028 $68,807,330 $688,073 $0 $0 $69,495,403 $48,270,003 0.02246 $1,053,389

2029 $69,495,403 $694,954 $0 $0 $70,190,357 $57,344,457 0.022460 $1,068,690
Total $8,702,872 $39,869,030 $0 $14,530,373

= Actual numbers from WI DOR.
= Actual numbers from Village.
= Assume 1/3 of value increment for 2015 with the remainder constructed in 2016; total value provided by developer (700 Ubay).
= Assume 60% of value increment for 2016 with the remainder constructed in 2017; total value provided by developer (AT&T).
= TID closes in Sept. 2028, but will receive 2028 increment payable in 2029.  

Tax Increment ProForma
Village of Shorewood Hills

9/11/2015

Base Value

TID No. 3 (Doctor's Park)

Assumptions

TIF Increment

Property Appreciation Rate
Annual Change in Tax Rate

For Existing Construction



7

 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

1% Build Existing ATT Plaza 700 UBD 2015 Planned Annual

Beginning TIF Interest Amer Total Debt Dev. Fi. Dev. Fi. Debt Village Surplus Cumulative
Year Balance Revenues Income Other Bonds Revenues Service TIF Assist. TIF Assist. Service Expenses (Deficit) Balance

2008 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2009 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2010 0 0 12,955 0 0 12,955 12,955 12,955

2011 12,955 0 189,349 130 0 189,479 189,479 202,434
2012 202,434 0 408,701 2,024 0 410,725 410,725 613,159
2013 613,159 0 239,524 6,132 0 245,656 245,656 858,814
2014 776,739 0 312,931 0 74,297 387,228 420,546 723,756 (757,074) 19,665
2015 19,665 0 494,376 197 184,965 13,173 692,711 424,192 30,000 238,519 258,184
2016 258,184 0 494,376 2,582 20,000 12,764 529,722 425,291 $87,649 30,000 (13,218) 244,966

2017 244,966 0 584,889 2,450 20,000 12,302 619,641 422,841 105,000 $82,377 30,000 (20,577) 224,389
2018 224,389 0 854,733 2,244 20,000 11,753 888,730 423,766 25,500 252,817 $83,333 30,000 73,315 297,703
2019 297,703 0 922,319 2,977 20,000 11,135 956,432 394,476 66,047 263,317 $84,141 30,000 118,450 416,154

2020 416,154 0 936,310 4,162 20,000 10,486 970,957 395,749 66,047 263,317 $84,747 30,000 131,097 547,251
2021 547,251 0 950,440 5,473 20,000 9,757 985,670 395,749 66,047 263,317 $85,281 30,000 145,276 692,527
2022 692,527 0 964,712 6,925 20,000 8,952 1,000,589 395,749 66,047 263,317 $85,782 30,000 159,694 852,221
2023 852,221 0 979,126 8,522 20,000 8,112 1,015,761 395,749 66,047 263,317 $86,203 30,000 174,445 1,026,666
2024 1,026,666 0 993,685 10,267 20,000 7,202 1,031,154 395,749 66,047 263,317 $86,535 219,506 1,246,173
2025 1,246,173 0 1,008,389 12,462 20,000 6,230 1,047,080 342,703 66,047 263,317 $86,829 288,184 1,534,357

2026 1,534,357 0 1,023,240 15,344 20,000 5,239 1,063,822 342,703 66,047 263,317 391,755 1,926,112
2027 1,926,112 0 1,038,239 19,261 20,000 4,182 1,081,682 342,703 66,047 263,317 409,616 2,335,728
2028 2,335,728 0 1,053,389 23,357 20,000 3,058 1,099,805 952,274 66,047 263,317 (181,833) 2,153,895

2029 2,153,895 0 1,068,690 0 0 1,871 1,068,690 1,068,690 3,222,585
Total (2014-2029) 0 13,679,844 116,221 519,262 14,439,673 6,470,237 685,973 2,990,983 852,877 993,756

Actual numbers from Village.

Includes $114,965 bike path and $50,000 stormwater reimbursements from County.

2015 Borrowing: University Bay Drive widening (165,000), a section of bicycle path (175,000), Marshal Court Improv (400,000) 

$2.1 million of developer-financed assistance, per developer request & Vierbicher analysis. 
Assumes approximately $1.1 million of developer-financed assistance, per developer request & Vierbicher analysis. 

TID closes in Sept. 2028, but will receive 2028 increment payable in 2029.  Note that financial statement shows payments running through 2030.  2030 payments were are listed in 2028.

= Assumed Investment Rate For Interest Income1.00%

Capital 
Interest & 

Debt Reserve

Numbers were aggregated in five-year totals in the 2014 TID #3 financial statement - totals were evenly spread over the five year range for projection purposes. 

Expenses

Largest portion is bike path/ditch work & Kammer parcel purchase ($631,509).  BOY 2014 positive balance was due to borrowing for the bike path/ditch project.  Grant reimbursement for a 
portion of the project is shown in 2015 "Revenues - Other" column.

Tax Increment Cash Flow
Village of Shorewood Hills
TID No. 3 (Doctor's Park)

9/11/2015

Revenues



8

 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

$8,265,800

1.00%
0.00%

Previous Inflation Total Cumulative TIF Tax TIF 
Year Valuation Increment Construction Land Valuation Increment Rate Revenue
2010 $8,265,800 $0 $0 ($978,500) $7,287,300 ($978,500) 0.02186 $0
2011 $7,287,300 $0 $0 $439,500 $7,726,800 ($539,000) 0.02079 $0
2012 $7,726,800 $0 $0 $225,200 $7,952,000 ($313,800) 0.02186 $0

2013 $7,952,000 $0 $6,211,400 $0 $14,163,400 $5,897,600 0.02246 $0
2014 $14,163,400 $141,634 $5,159,266 $0 $19,464,300 $11,198,500 0.02246 $0
2015 $19,464,300 $194,643 $0 $0 $19,658,943 $11,393,143 0.02246 $132,460
2016 $19,658,943 $196,589 $0 $0 $19,855,532 $11,589,732 0.02246 $251,518
2017 $19,855,532 $198,555 $0 $0 $20,054,088 $11,788,288 0.02246 $255,890
2018 $20,054,088 $200,541 $0 $0 $20,254,629 $11,988,829 0.02246 $260,305

2019 $20,254,629 $202,546 $0 $0 $20,457,175 $12,191,375 0.02246 $264,765
2020 $20,457,175 $204,572 $0 $0 $20,661,747 $12,395,947 0.02246 $269,269
2021 $20,661,747 $206,617 $0 $0 $20,868,364 $12,602,564 0.02246 $273,818

2022 $20,868,364 $208,684 $0 $0 $21,077,048 $12,811,248 0.02246 $278,413
2023 $21,077,048 $210,770 $0 $0 $21,287,818 $13,022,018 0.02246 $283,054
2024 $21,287,818 $212,878 $0 $0 $21,500,696 $13,234,896 0.02246 $287,741
2025 $21,500,696 $215,007 $0 $0 $21,715,703 $13,449,903 0.02246 $292,475
2026 $21,715,703 $217,157 $0 $0 $21,932,860 $13,667,060 0.02246 $297,256
2027 $21,932,860 $219,329 $0 $0 $22,152,189 $13,886,389 0.02246 $302,085
2028 $22,152,189 $221,522 $0 $0 $22,373,711 $14,107,911 0.02246 $306,962

2029 $22,373,711 $223,737 $0 $0 $22,597,448 $14,331,648 0.02246 $311,888
2030 $22,597,448 $225,974 $0 $0 $22,823,423 $14,557,623 0.02246 $316,864

2031 $22,823,423 $228,234 $0 $0 $23,051,657 $14,785,857 0.022460 $321,889
Total $3,500,757 $11,370,666 ($313,800) $4,384,763

= Actual numbers from WI DOR.
= Actual numbers from Village.

Base Value

Property Appreciation Rate
Annual Change in Tax Rate

For Existing Construction

Tax Increment ProForma
Village of Shorewood Hills

9/15/2015
TID No. 4

TIF Increment

Assumptions



9
 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Village Planned Flad 2015 Annual

Beginning TIF Interest Total GO Debt Village Debt Borrowing Surplus
Year Balance Revenues Income Other Revenues Service Expenses Service (Deficit)
2010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2014 (273,662)
2015 (273,662) 0 132,460 0 0 132,460 81,389 0 51,071 (222,591)
2016 (222,591) 0 251,518 0 0 251,518 82,683 91,284 11,442 66,109 (156,482)
2017 (156,482) 0 255,890 0 0 255,890 82,101 91,284 10,803 71,702 (84,779)
2018 (84,779) 0 260,305 0 0 260,305 82,264 91,284 11,010 75,747 (9,032)

2019 (9,032) 0 264,765 0 0 264,765 82,270 91,284 11,204 80,007 70,975
2020 70,975 0 269,269 710 0 269,979 82,167 91,284 11,376 85,151 156,126
2021 156,126 0 273,818 1,561 0 275,380 82,167 91,284 11,545 90,383 246,509

2022 246,509 0 278,413 2,465 0 280,878 82,167 91,284 11,717 95,710 342,219
2023 342,219 0 283,054 3,422 0 286,476 82,167 91,284 11,885 101,140 443,358
2024 443,358 0 287,741 4,434 0 292,174 82,167 91,284 12,049 106,674 550,033
2025 550,033 0 292,475 5,500 0 297,975 74,628 91,284 12,215 119,847 669,880
2026 669,880 0 297,256 6,699 0 303,955 74,628 91,284 0 138,042 807,922
2027 807,922 0 302,085 8,079 0 310,164 74,628 91,284 144,252 952,174
2028 952,174 0 306,962 9,522 0 316,484 74,628 91,284 150,572 1,102,745

2029 1,102,745 0 311,888 11,027 0 322,916 74,628 91,284 157,003 1,259,749
2030 1,259,749 0 316,864 12,597 0 329,461 68,698 91,284 169,479 1,429,228

2031 1,429,228 0 321,889 57,169 0 379,058 379,058 1,808,286
Total 0 4,706,651 123,186 0 4,450,779 1,263,383 1,369,260 115,247

= Assumed Investment Rate For Interest Income

Expenses

Capital 
Interest

Note: Village debt service and MRO debt service includes Walnut Grove project, with no additional expenditures.
Current Planned Village Expenses: Baker Tilly Report, 

Balance After 
Surplus to 
Principal

After 2014 TID #4 still has a -$273,662 balance to pay back to the General Fund. The Flad MRO agreement lists the Village will pay off all existing debt service, then retain 25% of balance to put to the general 
TID fund, remaining TID revenue will the be used to pay Flad Development per the existing MRO and the remaining balance will be put toward the annual suplus. 

Tax Increment Cash Flow
Village of Shorewood Hills

TID No. 4
9/15/2015

Revenues

1.00%



WWW.VIERBICHER.COM
400 VIKING DRIVE, REEDSBURG, WI 53959 (608) 524-6468 • 999 FOURIER DRIVE, SUITE 201 MADISON, WI 53717 (608) 826-0532 • P.O. BOX 542, PRAIRIE DU CHIEN, WI 53821 (608) 326-1051

© 2015 VIERBICHER

 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

School District 55.14% $0 $2,440,854 $285,459 $285,459
Tech. College 6.81% $0 $301,547 $35,615 $35,615
County 15.06% $0 $666,496 $79,498 $79,498
Local 22.04% $0 $975,865 $117,552 $117,552
Other 0.95% $0 $0 $5,139 $5,139
Total 100.0% $0 $4,384,763 $523,263 $523,263
* "Other" includes primarily State taxes, which do not go to TID.

Over Maximum Life of TID
Analysis of Impact on Overlying Jurisdictions

Village of Shorewood Hills

9/15/2015
TID No. 4

Annual Taxes 
Collected on Base 
Value Distributed 

to Taxing 
Jurisdictions

Increase in 
Annual Tax 
Collections 

After TID

Total Taxes 
Captured by TID 
Not Distributed 

to Jurisdictions*

Annual 
Taxes 

Collected 
After TID

 Taxing 
Jurisdiction

% of Mill Rate 
by 

Jurisdiction

 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES, INC. 

School District 55.14% $219,309 $8,088,584 $869,198 $649,889
Tech. College 6.81% $27,094 $999,278 $108,445 $81,352
County 15.06% $59,884 $2,208,656 $242,065 $182,181
Local 22.04% $87,681 $3,233,855 $357,935 $270,254
Other 0.95% $3,796 $0 $15,648 $11,852
Total 100.00% $397,764 $14,530,373 $1,593,292 $1,195,528

Analysis of Impact on Overlying Jurisdictions

Village of Shorewood Hills

9/11/2015
TID No. 3 (Doctor's Park)

* "Other" includes primarily State taxes, which do not go to TID.

Increase in 
Annual Tax 
Collections 

After TID

Total Taxes 
Captured by TID 
Not Distributed 

to Jurisdictions*

Annual 
Taxes 

Collected 
After TID Taxing Jurisdiction

% of Mill Rate 
by 

Jurisdiction

Annual Taxes 
Collected on Base 
Value Distributed 

to Taxing 
Jurisdictions

Over Maximum Life of TID



Village of Shorewood Hills 
Personnel Committee 

Approved Meeting Minutes     
Wednesday, July 15, 2015   7:00 a.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  Committee Chairperson John Imes called the meeting to order at 7:00 a.m. 

Present were Mr. Imes and Committee members Erica Moeser, Mary Gulbrandsen, Anne 
Readel, Paula Hogan and David Vitse. Jim Schneider was excused. Village Administrator Karl 
Frantz, Police Chief Denny Pine, Police Officer Nick Pine and Village Clerk Cokie Albrecht 
were also in attendance. 

 a. Note compliance with open meeting law  Mr. Frantz confirmed the meeting had been 
properly posted and noticed.  

 
2. Approve previous meeting minutes  Ms. Moeser moved and Ms. Gulbrandsen seconded a 

motion to approve the Closed Session minutes of the Personnel Committee meeting of March 
11, 2015 and Open Session minutes of the meeting of April 14, 2015. Motion passed 5-0-1 
with Ms. Hogan abstaining since she had not attended the meetings.  

 
3. Consider question of whether police educational incentive as provided for in the 

Personnel Policy Manual is meant to include part time officers who complete education 
that would qualify for an incentive if full time while part time and later become full time 
Mr. Frantz reviewed his July 14, 2015 memo to Nick Pine regarding the second to last 
paragraph in Section 7.09 of the Personnel Policy Manual, “Educational Benefits.”  The 
paragraph says: 

“Police Officers are given an educational incentive: after three years service, a one 
step increase on the pay grid for a bachelor’s degree and another step increase for a 
master’s degree. This increase would be given upon proof of graduation from an 
accredited institution.” 

Officer Pine said he believes the paragraph indicates that all police officers with bachelor’s 
degrees are given a step increase after working for the Village for three years, regardless of 
when they received those degrees.  
Mr. Frantz disagrees. He feels the educational incentive was included in the Personnel Policy 
Manual to encourage police officers who were hired without their bachelor’s degrees to 
complete their schooling while working for the Village. He contends the Village could 
consider offering an officer a higher starting wage if he/she had completed a bachelor degree 
prior to being hired.  
An additional consideration: Officer Pine obtained his bachelor’s degree while working for the 
Village as a part time officer. Mr. Frantz said the employee benefits outlined in the Personnel 
Policy Manual do not extend to part time employees. Since Officer Pine was hired as a full 
time officer after he had completed his bachelor’s degree, the provisions of this paragraph in 
Section 7.09 would not apply to him. 
The Committee members asked staff to provide them with a copy of the Personnel Policy 
Manual and additional information about Officer Pine’s hours and wages while a part time 
officer.  

 
4. Consider concern of Recreation Committee on seasonal recreation program hires and 

timeliness  After discussion, it was agreed staff would clearly communicate the hiring 
timelines with the recreation program chairs. The Personnel Committee will be available to 
review the anticipated hires when necessary.  
 

5. Receive report and discussion on request that Wisconsin Professional Police Association 
(WPPA) be recognized as bargaining representative for police  Mr. Frantz reported some 



of the Shorewood Hills police officers have asked WPPA to represent them. The Trustees will 
consider the request at the July 20, 2015 Board meeting. They will have two options when 
responding to the request: 1) agree that the WPPA will represent the four qualifying full time 
Village police officers or 2) consider authorizing an election in which the qualifying Village 
police officers would vote on whether they want to be represented by WPPA. Because the 
Village has a population of less than 2,500, if the police officers were to decide to join the 
WPPA, binding arbitration would not apply to negotiations with the Village. Instead, if the 
Village bargained in good faith, the terms it offered the officers would stand. Mr. Frantz said 
he thought some of the officers were interested in the WPPA representation because they were 
concerned they would lack legal support if needed; the WPPA would provide that.  

 
6. May adjourn to Closed Session as per Section 19.85(1)(e) due to competitive or 

bargaining reasons and may reconvene to open session as per Wisconsin State Statutes 
19.85(2) to address any business that may be the result of the deliberations made in 
closed session (request that Village recognize WPPA as bargaining representative for 
police) The Committee did not find it necessary to go into Closed Session. 

 
7. Set future agenda dates and items  The next meeting of the Personnel Committee will be 

Wednesday, July 29, 2015 at 7:00 a.m. The agenda will include further discussion of the 
educational incentive for police officers, recommendations to the Board about additional 
summer hires and a wage adjustment for the Community Services Officer.  
 

8.  Adjourn  Meeting adjourned at 8:27 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,   
 
 
Colleen Boyle Albrecht 
Village Clerk 



Village of Shorewood Hills 
Personnel Committee 

Approved Meeting Minutes     
Wednesday, July 29, 2015   7:00 a.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  Committee Chairperson John Imes called the meeting to order at 7:03 a.m. 

Present were Mr. Imes and Committee members Mary Gulbrandsen, Anne Readel, Paula 
Hogan and David Vitse. Jim Schneider was excused. Erica Moeser arrived a few minutes later. 
Village Administrator Karl Frantz, Police Chief Denny Pine and Village Clerk Cokie Albrecht 
were also in attendance. 

 a. Note compliance with open meeting law  Mr. Frantz confirmed the meeting had been 
properly posted and noticed.  

 
2. Approve previous meeting minutes  Ms. Gulbrandsen moved and Ms. Readel seconded a 

motion to approve the minutes of the Personnel Committee meeting of July 15, 2015. Motion 
passed 5-0 (Ms. Moeser arrived after the vote). 

 
3. Consider question of whether police educational incentive as provided for in the 

Personnel Policy Manual is meant to include part time officers who complete education 
that would qualify for an incentive if full time while part time and later become full time 
The Committee concurred with Mr. Frantz’s interpretation of Section 7.09 of the Personnel 
Policy Manual regarding the educational incentive for police officers—the members agreed 
that Officer Pine would not be eligible for it. The Committee will consider reevaluating the 
placement of officers on the pay grid when they are hired with a bachelor’s degree.  

 
4. Consider approval of LTE hires for Tennis, Basketball and Public Works  Ms. Moeser 

moved and Ms. Hogan seconded a motion to recommend to the Board of Trustees that it 
approves the LTE hires for Tennis, Basketball and Public Works. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

5. Review and recommendation on wage adjustment for seasonal Community Service 
Officer (CSO), including retroactivity  Chief Pine reviewed his memo to the Committee 
dated June 17, 2015, regarding a raise for CSO Andy Eley, who has returned for a third 
summer. Ms. Moeser moved and Ms. Readel seconded a motion to recommend to the Board of 
Trustees that it increases Mr. Eley’s wage to $10.25/hour retroactive to the start of the year. 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
6. Review and recommendation on wage adjustments for five Pool employees due to 

position/qualification changes  Ms. Gulbrandsen moved and Ms. Hogan seconded a motion 
to recommend to the Board of Trustees that it revises the wages and positions of five Pool 
employees due to their increased qualifications. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
7. Closed Session  At 7:20 a.m. Mr. Imes suggested that the Committee go into Closed Session 

as per Section 19.85(1)(e) due to competitive or bargaining reasons and may reconvene to 
open session as per Wisconsin State Statutes 19.85(2) to address any business that may be the 
result of the deliberations made in closed session (request that Village recognize WPPA as 
bargaining representative for police). The roll call vote was: Mr. Imes – yes; Mr. Vitse – yes; 
Ms. Hogan – yes; Ms. Gulbrandsen – yes; Ms. Readel – yes;  and Ms. Moeser – yes. Chief 
Pine, Mr. Frantz and Ms. Albrecht were asked to stay. Village Counsel Steve Zach of 
Boardman and Clark, LLP joined the meeting at 7:25 a.m. 
 
While in Closed Session the Personnel Committee discussed the Shorewood Hills Police 
Association’s request for representation by the Wisconsin Professional Police Association. 



Open Session  At 8:33 a.m., the Personnel Committee reconvened to Open Session. The roll 
call vote was: Mr. Imes – yes; Mr. Vitse – yes; Ms. Hogan – yes; Ms. Gulbrandsen – yes; Ms. 
Readel – yes;  and Ms. Moeser – yes. 

 
8. Set future agenda dates and items  The next meeting of the Personnel Committee will be 

Wednesday, September 2, 2015 at 7:00 a.m. 
 

9.  Adjourn  Meeting adjourned at 8:35 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,   
 
 
Colleen Boyle Albrecht 
Village Clerk 



Village of Shorewood Hills 
Personnel Committee Approved Meeting Minutes     

Thursday, September 24, 2015   7:00 a.m. 
 
1. Call to Order  Committee Chairperson John Imes called the meeting to order at 7:07 a.m. 

Present were Mr. Imes and Committee members Mary Gulbrandsen, Erica Moeser, Anne 
Readel and David Vitse. Jim Schneider and Paula Hogan were excused. Village Administrator 
Karl Frantz and Village Clerk Cokie Albrecht were also in attendance. 

 a. Note compliance with open meeting law  Mr. Frantz confirmed the meeting had been 
properly posted and noticed.  

 
2. Approve previous meeting minutes  Ms. Gulbrandsen moved and Ms. Moeser seconded a 

motion to approve the minutes of the Open and Closed Sessions of the meeting of July 29, 
2015 with the correction of the section regarding the Open Session in both minutes to read: 
“At 8:33 a.m., the Board Personnel Committee reconvened to Open Session.” Motion passed 
unanimously.  

 
3. Meet with departmental employees regarding 2015 compensation, benefits and other 

personnel matters that may arise and possible recommendations Mr. Frantz and Ms. 
Albrecht left the meeting at 7:10 a.m. 

 a. Department of Public Works  DPW Chief John Mitmoen and crew members Mark 
Stumpf, Mark Moyer, Craig Steinle and Tary Handschke joined the meeting at 7:10 a.m. They 
discussed personnel matters with the members until 7:53 a.m. when they left the meeting.  
c. Administration Deputy Clerk Karla Endres, Emergency Services Coordinator David Sykes, 
Administrative Assistant Betsy Kramer and Ms. Albrecht discussed personnel matters with the 
Committee from 7:53 a.m. until 8:10 a.m. when they left the meeting. 

 b. Forester  Corey George discussed personnel matters with the members from 8:10 a.m. until 
8:45 a.m. when he left the meeting. 

  
4. Discussion and possible recommendation on Village compensation plan and proposals 

for an update to the plan from Carlson Dettman  recommendations  Mr. Frantz and Ms. 
Albrecht rejoined the meeting at 8:45 a.m. Mr. Vitse moved and Ms. Gulbrandsen seconded a 
motion to recommend to the Board of Trustees that it hires Carlson Dettman Consulting to 
review the Village’s compensation plan and the advisability of updating the Village’s wage 
grid. Motion passed unanimously. The consultants’ review will include the Village’s entire 
compensation package. The Committee thought that the recommended changes, if any, would 
be implemented in 2017. 
 

5. Discussion with possible recommendations on employee health/dental insurance as it 
relates to benefits, coverage, providers and employee/employer costs  Mr. Frantz said the 
premiums from the Village’s health insurance provider, Employee Trust Fund (ETF), will 
increase by 9% in 2016. The increase has prompted a consideration of exploring revisions to 
the benefit. A change in legislation this year enables municipalities participating in the ETF 
program to offer their employees an incentive to opt out of taking health insurance. 
Shorewood Hills may want to investigate that option. The issue will be discussed at the next 
Personnel meeting.  

 
6. Set future agenda dates and items  The next meeting of the Personnel Committee will be 

Tuesday, September 29, 2015 at 7:00 a.m. 
 

7.  Adjourn  Meeting adjourned at 8:55 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  Colleen Boyle Albrecht, Village Clerk 



Village of Shorewood Hills 
Personnel Committee 

Approved Meeting Minutes     
Tuesday, September 29, 2015   7:00 a.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  Committee Chairperson John Imes called the meeting to order at 7:07 a.m. 

Present were Mr. Imes and Committee members Mary Gulbrandsen, Anne Readel, Paula 
Hogan and David Vitse. Erica Moeser and Jim Schneider were excused. Police Chief Denny 
Pine, Lieutenant Courtland Martens, Officer Ashley Dostalek and Village Clerk Cokie 
Albrecht were also in attendance. 

 a. Note compliance with open meeting law  Ms. Albrecht confirmed the meeting had been 
properly posted and noticed.  

 
2. Approve previous meeting minutes  Ms. Readel moved and Ms. Gulbrandsen seconded a 

motion to approve the minutes of the Personnel Committee meeting of September 24, 2015. 
Motion passed 4 – 0 – 1 with Ms. Hogan abstaining; she had not attended the meeting. 

 
3. Meet with departmental employees regarding compensation, benefits and other 

personnel matters that may arise and possible recommendations  Ms. Albrecht left the 
meeting at 7:10 a.m. 
a. Police  The police staff discussed personnel matters with the Committee. Officer Dostalek 
left the meeting afterward.  

 
4. Discussion with possible recommendations on employee health/dental insurance as it 

relates to benefits, coverage, providers and employee/employer costs  Village 
Administrator Karl Frantz and Ms. Albrecht joined the meeting at 8:15 a.m. After discussion, 
Ms. Gulbrandsen moved and Ms. Hogan seconded a motion to recommend to the Board of 
Trustees that the 2016 wage for the employees on the grid would include a step plus 1% 
increase. Eligible employees who choose to not participate in the Village’s health insurance in 
2016 would receive an additional $2,000 payment. Motion passed unanimously. Ms. Readel 
moved and Ms. Gulbrandsen seconded a motion to recommend to the Board of Trustees that 
the employees who have stepped off the wage grid would receive a 3% raise in 2016. They 
also would receive the $2,000 payment for opting out of participation in the Village’s health 
insurance. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
5. Set future agenda dates and items  The next meeting of the Personnel Committee will 

include a visit with Charles Dettman of Carlson Dettman Consulting regarding the firm’s 
review of the Village’s compensation package. Staff will coordinate with Mr. Dettman and the 
Committee members to identify a meeting date that works for most in October, 2015.  
 

6.  Adjourn  Meeting adjourned at 8:42 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,   
 
 
Colleen Boyle Albrecht 
Village Clerk 



 1
 

Minutes of the Finance Committee 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
Wednesday, September 16, 2015 

(scheduled for review at the next Finance Committee meeting) 
 

1. Called to Order at 5:39 p.m.: 
A. Roll Call: Committee Members Present: Chair/Village Trustee Dave 

Benforado, Village President Mark Sundquist, Village Treasurer Sean Cote, 
and Karl Wellensiek.  Dave Ahmann and Gard Strother arrived after the 
meeting began.  Carl Gulbrandsen was excused. 

B. Others Present: Village Administrator Karl Frantz, Village Clerk Cokie 
Albrecht. 

 
2. Meting Notice: D.Benforado inquired and K.Frantz confirmed that the meeting had 

been properly posted in compliance with open meeting laws. 
 

3. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes:  the Committee reviewed the draft minutes 
from the September 2, 2015, Finance Committee meeting.  Motion to approve the 
minutes by K.Wellensiek, second by M.Sundquist.  Motion passed (4-0). 

 
4. Continued Discussion of FY16 Village Budget recommendation to Village Board 

(general fund, all other funds including debt, water, sewer, stormwater, waterfront, 
pool, tax increment, capital): 

 
A. General Fund: Frantz summarized the draft FY16 budget as follows (handing 

out a detailed line by line 29 page budget dated 9/11/15 and a five-page 
summary showing the adjustments made since the last meeting): 

1. Actual increase to employee health insurance of 9%. 
2. $15K increase in State Highway Aid (formula driven). 
3. Reducing the tree maintenance and removal budgets by $15K (to 

offset the increase for Ash tree treatment). 
4. Eliminating the $4K annual Village Recognition Dinner. 
5. Eliminating the $7K for new Village Hall roof HVAC unit (this 

will now be in the Capital budget). 
6. Eliminating the $17K Police Department FY16 special requests 

(body cameras and server, new speed board, new bikes). 
7. Minor reductions in various expense categories.  Frantz mentioned 

he was prepared to discuss further detailed budget cuts totaling 
$70K if the Committee wanted to. 

8. Given the above changes, the FY16 revenue gap = $30K 
(assuming zero application of unassigned fund balance). 
 

B. General Fund Discussion: 
1. Benforado handed out a one-page memo summarizing his thoughts 

on the FY16 budget: 
a. Additional FY16 Expenses: should consider whether we 

need to budget planning money for a new dry storage 
building at BCC (the lease on our current building expires 



 2
 

at FY17 year-end) and whether we need to budget for a 
consultant to recalibrate the Village employee step increase 
plan. 

b. $715K in paybacks (FY16-FY19): noting four-year 
payback schedule for $715K in advances to the water 
utility, sewer utility and TID #4. 

c. Conservative Budgeting: noting conservative budgeting 
principle used by Committee, that is to not assume any 
inspection fees for any proposed project unless it has been 
completely approved.  The net fee proceeds for the three 
proposed but not completely approved projects (i.e., Flad’s 
ATT Plaza, Arneson’s Arbor Crossing II, Flad’s Lodge at 
Walnut Grove II) would be roughly $180K. 

d. Two Minor Changes totaling $10K: decrease LWMMI 
insurance dividend from $5K to zero, increase Madison 
Metro contribution from $25K to $30K. 

e. Reduce Village Levy Increase from Maximum Allowed 
of 6.7% to between 3.5-4% with $60-75K Fund Balance 
Application. 

2. Committee Direction: following discussion, it was generally 
agreed to: 

a. Increase the payment to Madison Metro from $25K to 
$30K. 

b. Reduce the tree maintenance and removal budgets by $10K 
rather than $15K (adding $5K back in). 

c. Keep the annual Village recognition dinner expense in the 
budget (adding $4K back in). 

d. Keep the Police Department FY16 special request expense 
(adding $17K back in), assuming a subsequent favorable 
Public Health and Safety Committee recommendation. 

e. K.Frantz to make further minor modifications and 
refinements as needed. 

f. Cap the Village levy increase at 4%, and apply roughly 
$60-75K in unassigned fund balance to close the gap. 
 

C. Department Narratives were in the materials packet for the meeting, each 
Department Head providing a general department description, a mission 
statement, descriptions of services offered/vehicles/major equipment, capital 
needs, program and service changes, major work activities, future issues and 
goals.  
 

D. Payback Schedule for Advances to Water and Sewer Utilities, TID #4: 
Frantz handed out a memo dated 9/16/15 summarizing the approximate 
payback schedule for $715K in advances to the Water and Sewer Utilities 
from the Capital Fund, and advances to TID #4 from the General Fund: 

1. $155K in FY16: $75K (Water)+$29K (Sewer)+$51K (TID #4). 
2. $193K in FY17: $93K (Water)+$29K (Sewer)+$71K (TID #4). 
3. $198K in FY18: $93K (Water)+$29K (Sewer)+$76K (TID #4). 
4. $169K in FY19: $93K (Water)+$76K (TID #4). 



 3
 

 
E. Other Funds.  K.Frantz summarized the status of the other funds for the 

Committee at the meeting, and with spreadsheets and a memo he had 
prepared: 
 

1. Debt Service Fund (worksheet dated 9/11/15): FY16 debt service 
is $970K excluding utility and TID debt. 
 

2. Water Utility (worksheet dated 9/1/15, rate adjustment needed, 
will be subject of 10/21/15 Committee meeting): the water utility is 
due for a rate adjustment, last rate adjustment was in 2011(the 
change to quarterly billing effective 2012), thought rate increase 
would be approved by WI PSC for FY15 but Village delayed case 
since we were waiting for City of Madison water case to conclude 
which it did a few months ago. 

a. FY15 year-end projections are revenues of $432K and 
expenses of $506K leaving a $74K deficit (this $74K 
deficit may be considered short term and not booked as an 
advance). 

b. Utility has already been advanced $278K from Cap Fund 
(repayment schedule assumes repayments of $75K in 
FY16, $93K in FY17, $93K in FY18, $93K in FY19). 

c. Pending PSC rate case assumes a 50% rate increase, the 
driver being the significant Village infrastructure 
construction in the 2011-2015 period.  The increase will be 
net 40% if PSC approves a “conveyance fee” as part of rate 
case, that fee would be paid to the Village by the City of 
Madison for Madison’s use of Village water pipes to 
circulate wholesale water.  If rate case is approved, a utility 
customer that currently has a quarterly water bill of $68 
will see an increase of $27 per quarter to $95. 

d. Assuming rate case is approved by PSC, FY16 projections 
are revenues of $592K and expenses of $576K (including a 
return of $75K to the general fund to cover the FY15 
deficit, and a $58K annual PILOT – payment in lieu of tax 
– to the general fund). 
 

3. Sewer Utility (worksheet dated 9/1/15, rate adjustment needed, 
will be subject of 10/21/15 Committee meeting).  The sewer utility 
is also due for a rate adjustment, last rate adjustment was in 
2011(the change to quarterly billing effective 2012). 

a. FY15 year-end projections are revenues of $309K and 
expenses of $296K leaving a $13K surplus. 

b. Utility has already been advanced $90K from Cap Fund 
(repayment schedule assumes repayments of $29K in 
FY16, $29K in FY17, $29K in FY18). 

c. Pending rate adjustment by Village Board assumes a 14% 
rate increase, the driver being the Village sewer 
infrastructure construction in the 2011-2015 period (less 



 4
 

than the water utility since the sewer pipes were found to 
be in much better condition and less in need of 
replacement).  A sewer utility customer that currently has a 
quarterly water bill of $51 will see an increase of $7 per 
quarter to $58. 

d. Assuming rate case is approved by Village Board, FY16 
projections are revenues of $347K and expenses of $341K 
(including a return of $30K to the general fund to cover a 
third of the prior advances). 
 

4. Stormwater Fund (worksheet dated 9/1/15): stormwater fund 
created in 2008 and has been accumulating roughly $155K each 
year from property owners since, but spending started in earnest in 
subsequent years in conjunction with road construction and 
associated stormwater pipe/inlet installations and rain garden 
projects.  Rain garden maintenance and street sweeping is paid for 
through this fund, the former of which will probably need less 
maintenance in future years when the rain gardens mature. 

a. $223K in cash at FY14 year-end. 
b. FY15 year-end projections are revenues of $153K, 

expenses of $181K, deficit of $28K. 
c. FY16 projections are revenues of $155K, expenses of 

$199K, deficit of $44K. 
 

5. Waterfront Fund (worksheet dated 9/1/15):  
a. $34K in cash at FY14 year-end. 
b. FY15 year-end projections are revenues of $66K, expenses 

of $60K, surplus of $6K. 
c. FY16 projections are revenues of $66K, expenses of $50K, 

surplus of $16K. 
 

6. Pool Fund (worksheet dated 9/4/15): these are administrative 
estimates since the Pool Committee has not created an FY16 
budget yet.  Continued very good annual revenue has allowed pool 
to weather several recent years of high pool debt of over $100K/yr 
which will drop off to $13K in FY18.  Village pool and its portion 
of building is starting to show age, so a few years of surplus 
accumulation will help with minor and major repairs and 
improvements. 

a. $227K in cash at start of FY14. 
b. FY15 year-end projections are revenues of $563K, 

expenses of $525K, surplus of $38K. 
c. FY16 projections are identical (revenues of $563K, 

expenses of $525K, surplus of $38K). 
 

7. Tax Increment Fund (TID #3 and TID #4, worksheets dated 
9/8/15): 

a. K.Frantz explained that the both TIDs are doing well, and 
that both have projects underway or proposed.  However, 



 5
 

the TID worksheets are not good descriptions of TID 
activity (increment or expenses over time).  Frantz is 
working on a better way to present that information, and 
that a comprehensive TID analysis and forecast will be 
available shortly. 

b. TID #4 (west end of Village) has been advanced $274K 
from General Fund (repayment schedule to general fund 
assumes repayments of $51K in FY15, $71K in FY16, 
$76K in FY17, $75K in FY18). 
 

8. Capital Fund/Long Term Planning.  The Committee briefly 
touched on the Capital Fund and long range planning, K.Frantz 
summarizing the issues, the Committee agreeing to table a detailed 
discussion until a later meeting.  On these issues, K.Frantz 
distributed various documents: 

a. Two-page memo “Long Range Financial Planning”: 
i. Village Debt: describing Village debt status 

through 2024 being fairly fixed, with little room for 
additional debt outside of an additional $2.5M 
already planned for (the Village being at 95% of its 
debt policy limit which is 25% of operating 
revenue). 

ii. TID #3 and TID #4: describing the state of TID #3 
and TID #4 scheduled to close in 2028 and 2030 
respectively, both projected to collectively increase 
the Village tax base by roughly $64M which in turn 
will result in close to $400K in additional Village 
property tax revenue. 

iii. Long Range Major Village Capital Needs: annual 
regular capital expenditures (for, e.g., equipment) 
will average $70K/year.  Having completed road 
reconstruction and infrastructure replacement in the 
eastern portion of the Village, and using pavement 
overlays for the worst roads in the western portion, 
roughly $15M will be needed in the 2025-30 period 
for road reconstruction and infrastructure 
replacement in the remaining areas of the Village.  
A new Community Center/Pool in the 2025-2030 
period could cost $3-5M.  A new Public Works 
building and a new Village Hall could run $3-5M, 
or we could maintain both at much less of a cost.  
The Capital Fund has roughly $500K that is not 
associated with any debt instrument or earmarked 
for projects ($370K has been advanced to the water 
and sewer utilities, and will be paid back over the 
next four years). 

iv. General Fund: describing the levy supported 
general fund, how current levy limitations restrict 
the Village’s ability to raise the levy to roughly 



 
 

6

$30K/year, how fund balance has been accumulated 
over the last ten years, and how fund balance can be 
applied. 

b. “Existing General Obligation Debt Service Payments” 
spreadsheet.  A two-page spreadsheet from RW Baird dated 
9/14/15 showing principal and interest payments in total 
due through 2033, and broken down by fund (i.e., pool, 
TIF, water, marina, sewer, stormwater, general fund). 

c. “Shorewood Hills Public Works Department 
Equipment List 2017-2030” (spreadsheet dated 9/16/15). 

d. “5 Year Projection of Capital Needs Sorted by Date 
[2015-2021]” (spreadsheet dated 8/15). 

e. “Estimated Capital Borrowing 2015 and 2016” 
(spreadsheet dated 8/15). 

f. “Reconciliation of Debt Proceeds – Projections [2007-
2017]” simply showing to what fund (i.e., water, sewer, 
stormwater, capital, TID #3, TID #4) the various debt 
issuance amounts were applied to. 

g. A summary spreadsheet titled “Long Range Financial 
Planning [2015-2033]”.  Two versions of the same 
spreadsheet, one assuming a new Village Hall plus a new 
Public Works building plus a new Community Center/Pool, 
the other assuming simply maintaining those three 
buildings: both assuming average equipment capital 
expenditures each year, general fund expenses growing 
3%/year and general fund revenues growing by 2%/year, 
closure of TID#3 in 2027 and TID#4 in 2029 (returning 
those areas to the Village property tax roll the following 
year), and fund balance application to cover the gap.  The 
Fund balance goes negative in the seventh year. 

 
 

5. Future Meeting Dates: the Committee reviewed and agreed to the following meeting 
dates: 
A. Sept. 29, 2015 (5:30 pm), continued discussion of draft 2016 Village budget, 

M.Sundquist not available. 
B. Oct. 14, 2015 (5:30 pm), conclude discussion of draft 2016 Village budget. 
C. Oct. 21, 2015 (5:30 pm), possible 2016 budget meeting if needed (or devoted 

to Village water and sewer rate adjustments), M.Sundquist not available. 
D. Nov. 11, 2015 (5:30 pm), if needed. 

 
6. Adjourned: at 7:10 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted by Dave Benforado on September 27, 2015. 



 1
 

Minutes of the Finance Committee 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
Wednesday, September 29, 2015 

(scheduled for review at the next Finance Committee meeting) 
 

1. Called to Order at 5:31p.m.: 
A. Roll Call: Committee Members Present: Chair/Village Trustee Dave 

Benforado, Village Treasurer Sean Cote, Carl Gulbrandsen, Gard Strother and 
Karl Wellensiek.  Village President Mark Sundquist and Dave Ahmann were 
excused. 

B. Others Present: Village Administrator Karl Frantz, Village Clerk Cokie 
Albrecht. 

 
2. Meting Notice: D.Benforado inquired and K.Frantz confirmed that the meeting had 

been properly posted in compliance with open meeting laws. 
 

3. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes:  the Committee reviewed the draft minutes 
from the September 16, 2015, Finance Committee meeting.  Motion to approve the 
minutes by K.Wellensiek, second by S.Cote.  Motion passed (5-0). 

 
4. Continued Discussion of FY16 Village Budget recommendation to Village Board 

(general fund, all other funds including debt, water, sewer, stormwater, waterfront, 
pool, tax increment, capital): 
A. Updates: 

1. Village Financial Policies: Benforado apprised the Committee 
that at the 9/21/15 Village Board meeting, the Board considered 
the Committee’s recommended changes to Village “Budget and 
Financial Policies” (Baker Tilly auditor’s recommendation to add 
in language to “Post-Issuance Compliance Policy for Tax-Exempt 
Obligations” regarding training for appropriate Village officials), 
and referred it back to the Committee for further clarification.  
Frantz is checking with Baker Tilly to inquire about and obtain 
more information about what sort of training is offered and who 
would need it. 

2. Budget adjustments: Frantz reported in a memo to the Committee 
dated 9/25/15 that he had made the following changes to the draft 
FY16 Village budget based on the Committee’s 9/16/15 direction, 
now presenting a draft balanced $3.7M budget: 

a. Revenues: 
i. Village levy: the FY16 levy increase reduced from 

6.7% to 4%.  Doing so reduced the Village levy 
amount by $76K; the Village levy impact on an 
average Village home with an assessed value of 
$588K is now an additional $126 from prior levy 
amount. 

ii. Sale of Village Harley: $8K in revenue added for 
pending sale of Village Harley (the sale may take 



 2
 

place in FY15); no PD Officers interested in riding 
it anymore. 

iii. Insurance dividends: LWMMI insurance dividend 
reduced from $5K to zero. 

iv. Unassigned Fund Balance: $75K in unassigned 
fund balance applied. 

b. Expenses: 
i. Madison Metro Transit: Village FY16 

contribution increased $5K from $25K to $30K. 
ii. Forestry: $5K added back to Forestry for EAB 

treatments and tree removal/maintenance. 
iii. Annual Dinner: $4K added back for annual Village 

Recognition Dinner. 
iv. Personnel: $6K added to update Village employee 

compensation plan. 
v. Police Department: $17K added back for 

Department’s requested equipment (body cameras 
and server, new speed board).  

3. Personnel Committee 9/29/15 recommendations: Frantz 
apprised the Committee of a Village Personnel Committee meeting 
earlier that day in which the Personnel Committee voted 
unanimously to recommend to the Village Board that: 

a. FY16 salary adjustments for Village employees be 
Village STEP Plan (2-3% for most employees) plus 1%.  
The current draft budget assumes the STEP Plan increase, 
but not the additional 1% (which would be roughly an 
additional $10K); and 

b. Health Insurance: in FY16, Village employees opting out 
of Village provided health insurance would be paid a 
$2K/yr. incentive.  Village’s per employee 90% share of 
health insurance cost is $16.5K/yr. (family plan) and 
$6.7K/yr. (single plan).  Six employees would be eligible to 
do so, and there might be more or less employees who elect 
such an option if it is adopted by the Board; 6 X $2K = 
$12K.  Frantz indicated that due to existing timetables for 
health insurance open season elections, the Board would 
need to take this matter up at its October 19, 2015, meeting 
for decision if employees are to be given this optional 
incentive in FY16. 

4. Expense reduction options: 
a. Police Department: Frantz apprised the Committee that 

the additional speed board requested by the Police 
Department could be cut from the FY16 budget, a $4.8K 
expense reduction.  Frantz also reported that in terms of the 
$10K computer server portion of the Police Department’s 
body camera budget request, that $10K could be treated as 
a capital expense since it should have a life of 10 years or 
more.  The Committee’s preference was to treat the $10K 
server as an operating expense rather than a capital 



 3
 

expense, but to wait for the Public Health and Safety 
Committee’s recommendation as to the Police 
Department’s FY16 budget requests (that Committee 
scheduled to meet on 10/1/15). 

5. Additional potential FY16 budget revenue: Frantz reported that 
developer John Flad’s proposal to replace the ATT Plaza at the 
NW corner of University Ave./Shorewood Blvd. with a mixed use 
project (retail and apartments) has received all Village approvals 
from the Board, except a TID and Developer Agreement.  If that 
project moves forward, Flad would make a $185K payment to the 
Village general fund for associated real estate acquisition (portions 
of Village land at that corner that Flad would purchase). 

6. Capital projects and financing: Frantz also reported in his 
9/25/15 memo to the Committee that: 

a. Cold storage building at Blackhawk Country Club: 
Village’s current building lease on south side of University 
Ave. costs $20K/year and expires 2/18.  Now that the new 
lease with Blackhawk Country Club has been signed, the 
Services Committee recommends proceeding with plans 
and specs for a new cold storage building at the Blackhawk 
Country Club (just off west bound Old Middleton Road). 
Estimated all in cost for new building is $300-350K. 

b. Potential FY16 Street Resurfacing: staff has prepared a 
list of potential Village streets that could be resurfaced in 
FY16, the total cost of which would be $357K.  This would 
hopefully be the last major street resurfacing in the Village 
until major street reconstruction of the remaining streets in 
10 years or so.  The Public Works Committee will in all 
likelihood reduce this list to the streets truly in need, 
resulting in a total estimated cost of between $200-300K. 

c. Village Hall HVAC: Services Committee recommends 
spending $21K to replace three HVAC units on roof of 
Village Hall (our current borrowing can accommodate 
this). 

d. Two potential borrowings: the Village has penciled in two 
remaining borrowings, $500K in FY16 and $2M 
somewhere in the FY17-FY25 period.  For the lesser 
amount, the Village may want to us the State Trust Fund 
(higher rates, but no transactional costs). 

B. Committee Discussion on draft FY16 Budget: the general consensus of the 
Committee was to leave the general fund budget and all other reported 
budgets as is, to await further direction from the Village Board regarding the 
Personnel Committee’s and Public Health and Safety Committee’s 
recommendations, directing Frantz to apply additional unassigned fund 
balance for any additional FY16 expenses such that the Committee could 
consider a final FY16 budget to recommend to the Board at its 10/21/15 
Committee meeting. 
 



 
 

4

5. Continued Discussion on Long Range Financial Planning: Frantz summarized the 
materials he had handed out at the 9/16/15 Committee meeting, handing out a revised 
“Public Works Department Equipment List” (dated 9/28/15) and a revised set of 
summary spreadsheets (2015-2033).  The Committee’s discussion focused on the 
latter spreadsheets which estimated the following through 2033: Village debt 
payments, TID # 3 and TID #4 closing years and surplus amounts at closing, long 
range Village major capital needs, general fund expenses and general fund revenues.  
In terms of the spreadsheets, Frantz reported that he was more comfortable with and 
confident in the long-term capital planning portions than with the general fund 
portions.  Frantz explained how the TID #3 and TID#4 surplus amounts could be used 
to finance the Village’s share of the cost of reconstruction of University Ave. between 
University Bay Dr. and Shorewood Blvd. in roughly 2022.  The general consensus of 
the Committee was that these spreadsheets were worthy of further refinement and 
adjustment by staff, focusing on the long-term capital planning portions rather than 
the general fund portions. 

 
6. Future Meeting Dates: the Committee reviewed and agreed to the following meeting 

dates: 
A. Oct. 14, 2015 (5:30 pm) – meeting cancelled. 
B. Oct. 21, 2015 (5:30 pm) -- conclude FY16 Budget recommendations and 

discussion regarding Village water and sewer rate adjustments, M.Sundquist 
not available. 

C. Nov. 11, 2015 (5:30 pm) -- if needed. 
 

7. Adjourned: at 6:54 p.m. 
 

Respectfully submitted by Dave Benforado on October 4, 2015. 



MINUTES FOR THE VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
Public Works Committee 
Tuesday, May 26, 2015 – 7:30 P.M. 
Village Hall, 810 Shorewood Boulevard 
 
The meeting was called to called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
Roll call: Public Works Committee members present at the meeting were Chair Mark Lederer, 
Trustee Felice Borisy-Rudin, Jim Guither and Chris Petykowski. Others present included, Brian 
Berquist, John Mitmoen, Karl Frantz, Trustee Anne Readel was also in attendance as well as 
residents Monica and Eric Lawson, Geoff and Claudia Werner, Kenneth Shapiro, Tim Rikkers 
and Phyllis Menee. All either living on Blackhawk or Sunset.  
 
Compliance with the open meeting law was noted.  
 
Discussion and possible recommendations regarding the 2015 street improvement project 
and possible revisions to project and scope of work including discussion possible actions on 
current /future projects, budgets and bidding – Chair Mark Lederer opened the meeting and 
set the process to be followed. He then introduced Village Engineer Brian Berquist who provided 
an overview of the project, its purpose and scope and reviewed three documents he provided to 
the Committee and public one at a time. The first was a list of projects in the original bid. The 
second showed a new rank order of streets performed by Brian and John last week that were not 
in the original bid in rank order of need and including cost estimates. The last was a colored map 
showing streets that are included in the 2015 bid and other streets reconstructed or resurfaced 
since 2004. The Committee discussed this and asked questions. They also discussed the 15% 
limit that this year’s project could be increased by and elements of the project that could be 
deleted if the wanted to make more room to add other streets. Public was then invited to 
comment. In summary, the comments all were focused around a request that Blackhawk and 
Sunset be included in the project this year and some but not all were okay if they knew they 
would be added next year. The project additions are estimated at $134,000. 
 
Residents in the audience spoke in favor of adding Blackhawk and Sunset to the project list. 
 
After discussion and by motion made and seconded committee the recommended unanimously 
that Topping Road, Shady Lane and Blackhawk Drive be added to the resurfacing project in 
2015. The Committee noted they were able to accomplish this and stay within the 15%, $112,000 
additional work contract cap through savings on a section of Edgehill Drive that does not need 
work and should be removed from the original project list ($28,000). 
 
The Committee also discussed possible additional work in ensuing years and considered a 
motion made by Felice Borisy-Rudin and seconded by Jim Guither informing the Board that the 
Committee would be considering additional work including resurfacing next year in an amount 
that could possibly reach $300,000. That motion failed on a vote of 2-2. Felice and Jim voted in 
favor and Mark and Chris voted no. Those in favor thought it would be a good idea to let the 
Board know now that adding work would likely be recommended with some idea of the outside 
parameters on cost. Those against felt that these matters would surface through the annual 

Page 1 of 2 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

processes of the committee evaluating streets and needed work in the fall and did not want to 
create an expectation now. 
 
Funds for this could be derived from the current borrowing that includes future tax increment 
projects that are at least a year or more off. 
 
The meeting was then adjourned 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Karl Frantz 
Village Administrator 



Minutes Public Works Committee Tuesday, June 8, 2015 – 5:30 P.M. 
Location: Topping Road and Edgehill Drive. Reconvening at Village Hall 
 
Members present: Mark Lederer, Felice Borisy -Rudin, Chris Petykowski, Jim Guither, and Rick 
Chapell. Staff present. Karl Frantz, Brian Berquist, John Mitmoen. 
About 15 residents were in attendance for the first portion of the meeting including John Imes, 
Robert Corbett, Rose Fahien, Gale Shu, among others. 
 
Discussion and possible recommendations regarding improvements to the intersection of 
Topping Road and Edgehill Drive as well as discussion on other issues pertaining to those 
streets and safety/improvements concerns – After discussion with residents it was the 
consensus of those present to proceed with the project to narrow the intersection of Edgehill 
Drive and Topping Road and to also proceed with stormwater improvements. 
 
The Committee then reconvened at Village Hall at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Proposed changes to Village parking regulations and possible recommendations 
Chair Mark Lederer provided an overview of the issue. There were about 13 residents in 
attendance. Some of whom who spoke are listed below. 
 
Statement by Chair Lederer 
Existing Village ordinance(s) permit parking on one or both sides of many streets too narrow to 
allow the timely passage of emergency vehicles and other essential municipal service vehicles 
such as snowplows and garbage trucks. 
 
The problem is both practical and longstanding. It has been documented (and illustrated) in a 
memorandum from former Fire Chief Anderson and most recently in an analysis performed by 
the Village engineer, Brian Berquist. Emergency vehicles such as fire and emergency medical 
service (EMS) trucks generally require an open lane of at least 10 feet to safely navigate our 
streets. Allowing for side mirrors, parked cars occupy a space of roughly 8 feet. With snow 
banks, and sometimes without, people may use more than 8 feet to allow passengers to exit. 
Finally, some maneuvering room around corners for the long axle spacing of fire trucks is 
prudent. Therefore, Brian Berquist’s analysis recommended that Village roads should be at least 
18 feet wide if parking is to be permitted on one side of the street and at least 28 feet if parking is 
to be permitted on both sides. Many Village streets narrower than these widths currently permit 
parking on one or both sides of the streets, potentially delaying the timely response of emergency 
services to Village residents and visitors and preventing the efficient delivery of essential 
municipal services. 
 
In advance of public comments on this issue, the Public Works and Public Health & Safety 
Committees (the Joint Committee) recommends further restricting parking as set forth below. 
Note that many Village streets are NOT listed and NO change is recommended in the parking 
ordinances on those streets. The Joint Committee feels it is imprudent to continue the status quo 
and rely solely on residents’/visitors’ good judgment to keep the streets open at all times to 
emergency vehicles. However, perhaps in the course of holding public meetings a better solution 

Page 1 of 2 



Page 2 of 2 

might be found or some adjustment to the attached parking restrictions might be warranted such 
as alternate side parking. 
 
Given that an emergency can occur at any time, this meeting is to inform and seek comments 
from the residents as to the problem, the proposed remedy and any alternatives or adjustments 
that might be warranted. 
 
While emergency vehicles will do whatever is necessary to navigate the streets of the Village, 
including moving or towing cars or avoiding them altogether by driving up onto private 
property, these measures have their own costs and most importantly delay the emergency 
response by precious minutes, potentially jeopardizing lives and property. The Village has been 
fortunate (and lucky) that blocked streets have not resulted in tragic consequences. Although it is 
very tempting to assume the infrequent blockages will not occur during an emergency, such a 
gamble seems both imprudent and unnecessary. The Board and the Joint Committee are open to 
suggestions that minimize the inconvenience to residents/visitors and provide reasonable 
assurance that the streets will remain clear to emergency vehicle traffic at all times. 
 
Public Input. 
Several residents (Center, Tueting, Clark, Fergeson) living on Circle Close were present and felt 
strongly that the restrictions on Circle Close were not needed. John Center 3408 Circle Close 
presented an alternative plan that eliminated only three parking places in the cul de sac area. 
Further comments from Circle Close residents included: The street is plowed with a skid steer 
they do not need a plow truck. Fire trucks are not going use the cul de sac they will park before 
it. We have lived here for 40 years with no problems. What is driving this? There are problems 
on Mondays with refuse trucks. Could parking be restricted on Monday only? (Some residents 
disputed this comment). There are many young children now and parking on one side will make 
it more dangerous. 
 
John Voegeli – 1004 Yale Road said parking restrictions are not needed on the Swarthmore 
alley. 
 
Anne Readel – 3610 Sunset indicated that no parking is best suited for the odd address side of 
Sunset due to the blind curve at Sumac. 
 
A detailed letter from Tony Goldberg 3610 Sunset also requested the odd address side of Sunset 
for no parking. 
 
The committee thanked residents for their input and took the comments it received under 
advisement for further consideration at their next meeting. 
 
The meeting was then adjourned. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Karl Frantz 



Public Works Committee Minutes  
Monday, July 13, 2015 – 7:00 P.M. 
 
Chair Lederer called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Roll Call: Public Works Committee members present at the meeting were Chair Mark Lederer, 
Yang Tao, Jim Guither and Chris Petykowski. Others present included, Brian Berquist, John 
Mitmoen, Karl Frantz, and Police Chief Pine. 
Compliance with the open meeting law was noted  
 
Previous meeting minutes were approved on motion by Jim Guither seconded by Chris Petykowski. 
4-0 
 
Update on Public Works projects including 2015 roads, sewer lining, Bigfoot restoration 
There is a brief intermission on the resurfacing project which will resume on July 22 with Topping 
and Edgehill intersection starting. October 1 is the finish date. The contract for the sewer lining 
project is being put together. Bigfoot Park area will not be restored until next spring because of the 
sewer lining project and equipment needing to access through that area. 
 
Proposed changes to Village parking regulations and possible recommendations 
The Committee discussed placing temporary no parking signs on the south side of Topping opposite 
the intersection of Edgehill and Topping and to notify neighbors they may become permanent. 
 
The Committee indicated that they had made a recommendation prior but to be sure Jim Guither 
seconded by Mark Lederer moved to expand the parking by permit only to include Saturdays, 
Sunday’s and holidays on UBD from Harvard south. The motion was approved 4-0. 
 
The Committee reviewed the parking issues on Circle Close in light of resident comments. They 
noted that they have been told by personnel familiar with emergency access that fire trucks would 
not need to access into the bulb cul de sac area at the top of Circle Close. If parking is allowed and 
refuse trucks or plows can’t get through, residents will have to deal with that reality, if being able to 
park there is more important to them as they have indicated. It was moved and seconded to allow 
parking in the cul de sac on Circle Close beyond the throat. 
Motion carried 4-0. 
 
Yang Tao said that Tally Ho Lane needs to have parking restrictions extended to nights and 
weekends also. The street on occasion is nearly impassable at night and on weekends. 
 
The committee then recommended by consent that the Board consider putting up temporary no 
parking signs on streets that would be effected by the proposed changes in an effort to increase 
public awareness and comment and that an article also be put in the bulletin. 
 
The next meeting will be September 14 with no meeting in August. 
 
The meeting was then adjourned. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Karl Frantz 

 



MINUTES FOR THE VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
Public Works Committee 

 
Date and Time: Monday, September 14, 2015 – 7:00 P.M. 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Roll call: Public Works Committee members present at the meeting were Chair Mark Lederer, 
Yang Tao, Jim Guither and Chris Petykowski. Others present included, Brian Berquist, John 
Mitmoen, Karl Frantz, and Police Chief Pine. 
Also in attendance Monica and Eric Lawson, Geoff and Claudia Werner, Kenneth Shapiro. 
 
Compliance with the open meeting law was noted. 
 
Update on Public Works projects including 2015/16 roads, sewer lining, and possible 
recommendations – Engineer Berquist and the Village Administrator updated the Committee on 
the road resurfacing project which is now complete except for punch list items and the Lake 
Mendota sewer lining project to take place this winter. 
 
Proposed comprehensive changes to Village parking regulations and possible 
recommendations – Chair Lederer provided an overview of the entire process and rationale 
including the placement of temporary no parking signs to elicit public response. The Committee 
was provided numerous email comments that had been received and the Village Engineer 
reviewed the criteria that he had been told to use in determining possible new regulations 
referring to a memo and photos from the past Fire Chief as well as an initial primary goal to 
simply make sure the text of the parking code related to no parking matched what is actually 
signed. 
 
Residents in attendance living on Blackhawk Drive made comments summarized as follows: 
The measurements done do not accurately reflect undulating street widths and presume widths 
are the same as taken at one location when they are not and vary widely. The Village needs to 
pinpoint pinch points and regulate those areas, not entire streets based on a few measurements. 
They also said cars and trucks never have any problems getting up and down Blackhawk. They 
also felt that the character of the Village would be adversely affected.  
 
After discussion, Guither seconded by Lederer moved to recommend that all streets less than 24 
feet in width as re-measured post the 2015 construction, plus dead end blocks that are less than 
28 feet in width, will have one-sided parking, with the actual side of parking to be determined. 
 
2016 capital planning/budgeting timeline and possible recommendations – The next meeting 
will focus on 2016 projects ostensibly more resurfacing possibilities. 
 
The meeting was then adjourned. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Karl Frantz 

Page 1 of 1 



Village of Shorewood Hills 
Services Committee 

Draft Minutes of the Meeting on September 24, 2015 
 
1. The meeting was called to order shortly after 4:00 pm. Georgene Stratman was excused. All 

of the other 6 members were present. Compliance with the Open Meetings Law was noted. 
There were no minutes of a prior meeting to be approved. 

 
2. The Chair noted that the terms of all the committee members had expired. He proposed that 

he recommend their formal reappointment at the next meeting of the Village Board, unless a 
member notified him in the interim that they did not wish to be reappointed. 

 
3. The Committee discussed the need for exterior repairs on the exterior of the old Village 

Hall/Fire-DPW station. Following the discussion, Jerry Stein moved that the Committee 
recommend that the Village accept the proposal of Thrift Painting to make the repairs, at an 
estimated cost of $18,000, with the color to be chosen by the Village staff. The motion was 
seconded by Charlie Field, and was adopted 6-0. 

 
4. The Committee then discussed the need for HVAC repairs at the new Village Hall as the 

result of a compressor that has burned out on one of the three furnaces that support the 
HVAC systems in the building. The failure has eliminated air conditioning for 1/3 of the 
building, including part of the Board Room, the weight room, and two of the Police 
Department offices. The situation is complicated by the fact the failure occurred in a unit that 
is installed behind another furnace and by the fact that Freon gas may no longer be used, and 
the substitute for Freon is not compatible with the existing unit, which means that the entire 
unit must be replaced. 

 
The Committee was advised that it would cost $8,000 to $9,000 to replace the furnace with 
the burned out compressor, that all three furnace units are scheduled for replacement by 2018, 
that one would have to be taken out to have access to the unit with the failed compressor, that 
newer units would draw less power and be more efficient, and that the cost of replacing all 3 
of the furnace units at one time would be about $21,000. Under these circumstances, Bill 
Muehl moved that the Committee recommend that the Village replace all three furnace units 
at the same time. The motion was seconded by David Logan and was adopted 6-0. 

 
5. The Committed proceeded to discussion with respect to the needs related to construction of a 

cold storage facility on a portion of the land that the Village leases to the Blackhawk Country 
Club. 

 
The current lease on the existing cold storage facility runs until February of 2018. The 
current rent is $2,052.09 per month, and that sum will rise to $2,113.66 per month during 
2016, and to a bit more than $2,177 during 2017. It was suggested that the principal and 
interest cost of taking on debt for the construction of a new facility might be covered by, or 
even be less than, the amount of rent that the Village is obligated to pay under the current 
lease. The Committee asked Karl Franz to contact the lessor and determine whether he might 
be amenable to an early termination of the lease. 

Page 1 of 2 



Page 2 of 2 

 
A discussion followed as to how large a new facility should be. The Committee was advised 
that the Department of Public Works needs 3,500 to 4,000 square feet, that the Police 
Department would like about 1,500 square feet (for impounded bicycles and the possible 
need to impound a vehicle in a secure location), and that the Fire Association had expressed 
interest in storing the old Mack fire truck in the new building, but that would require that the 
building be heated. It was also suggested that it might be possible to construct a cold storage 
facility in a way that the building could be expanded at a future time if the Village needed 
more storage space. 

 
Under these circumstances, Bill Muehl moved that the Committee ask Karl Franz to explore 
alternative design options and related costs, including an assessment of the space needs of the 
Public Works Department, the Fire Association and the Police Department. The motion was 
seconded by Charlie Field and was adopted 6-0. 

 
6. The Committee then discussed options for use of the old Village Hall/Fire-DPW station, 

including proposals for use by a book lending library and a homework study group, some of 
the current uses of the building, and various needs for repairs and improvements if those uses 
are continued or changed. The Committee agreed that it would hold its next meeting at old 
Village Hall/Fire-DPW station, and give further consideration to the issues involved. 

 
7. The Committee reviewed the Village Capital Plan and determined that there were no items or 

recommendations that needed to be made or considered by the Finance Committee or the 
Board in connection with the 2016 Village General Fund Budget or as part of the 2016 
Capital Budget, although there was discussion about whether the Village should consider 
purchase of a small plow that would work with both the skid steer and the tool cat after the 
coming winter. 

 
8. No date and time was set for the next meeting. 
 
9. The meeting was adjourned about 5:10 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Fred Wade 



Parks Committee Minutes 
Village of Shorewood Hills 

Monday, September 14, 2015 
 

1. Called to Order:  Trustee Anne Readel called the meeting to order at 5:37 p.m.  

a. Roll Call:  Committee Members Present:  Chair/Village Trustee Anne Readel, 
Roma Lenehan, Nancy Heiden, Georgene Stratman, Kathie Brock, and Sue 
Denholm.  

b. Others Present:  Village Forester Corey George  

2. Meeting Notice:  C. George confirmed that the meeting had been properly posted in 
compliance with open meeting laws.  

3. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes:  The Committee approved draft minutes from the 
July 16, 2015 Parks Committee meeting subject to small modifications.   

4. Harvard Drive (U-Station Clinics) Restoration:  The contractor had to cancel due to 
illness so the meeting with University Station Clinics was postponed until next month.  
Cardno JFNew will have a new proposal to present at that time.  The area has historically 
been overgrown with invasive species.  Once or twice a year, the Village has had to trim 
back the invasive species and concerns from residents regarding privacy and screening 
have arisen.  Contractors have started removing invasive species and replanting has 
begun. There are also erosion concerns; however, invasive species removal and 
replanting should help address this issue.  The Committee expects discussion with the 
University whether the remaining restoration should be done at once or small portions 
each year. 

5. Madison Community Foundation: The Foundation provided an offer to install a bench 
and a few trees or shrubs in a Shorewood park to honor a former resident of Shorewood 
Hills.   The Committee appreciated the offer and will likely place the bench and plantings 
in Post Farm Park, possibly as part of the planned playground. Corey will follow up with 
the Foundation on logistics.  

6. Resident Encroachment into Parks: The Committee reviewed the most recent draft of a 
letter to residents living adjacent to parks.  Encroachment is becoming a bigger issue.   
The Committee agreed to place a short notice in the bulletin.  More directed letters will 
then be sent to residents adjacent to parks. 

7. Future Agenda Items:  

a. Memorial Brochure distribution 
b. Status of the Post Farm Park playground  

8. Adjourned: Adjourned at 7:08 pm. 



 

Parks Committee Minutes 
Village of Shorewood Hills 

Monday, October 12, 2015 
 

1. Called to Order:  Nancy Heiden called the meeting to order at 5:37 p.m.  

a. Roll Call:  Committee Members Present:  Roma Lenehan, Nancy Heiden, 
Georgene Stratman, Kathie Brock, and Sue Denholm.  Others Present:  Village 
Forester Corey George, Mary Heise (University Hospital and Clinics), Will 
Taylor (Cardno), Andrea Arpaci-Dusseau (Resident, 2909 Hunter Hill). 

b. Meeting Notice:  C. George confirmed that the meeting had been properly posted 
in compliance with open meeting laws.  

c. Approval Previous Minutes:  The Committee approved draft minutes from the 
September 14, 2015 Parks Committee meeting subject to small modifications.   

2. Harvard Drive (U-Station Clinics) Restoration:  Will Taylor represented Cardno, a 
contractor hired by the University Hospital and Clinics to remove invasive species and 
replant native vegetation.  Mr. Taylor spoke to the Parks Committee about the U-Station 
Clinic property and their role with landscape maintenance.  Mr. Taylor presented a draft 
restoration plan and asked the Committee for input.  C. George explained that the focus 
of this meeting was the ongoing work being done south of Harvard Drive.  The major 
issues are removing the invasive species, replanting native vegetation that provides 
screening to neighboring residents and prevents erosion, and improving visibility and 
safety along the street.  K. Brock offered her expertise on how best to control certain 
invasive species.  C. George noted that some neighbors didn’t like the use of herbicide.  
Some of them have accused the contractors of spraying “good” plants as well as invasive 
species.  C. George asked the contractor if they could pull more weeds vs. spraying.  W. 
Taylor (Cardno) said they would try to use less herbicide and do more pulling of weeds in 
the future.  C. George indicated that some of the neighbors were upset about the loss of 
screening when invasive species were removed.  Everyone agreed that replanting is 
crucial and larger plants should be used to provide more immediate screening when 
possible.  C. George recommended that more care be taken with new plantings (watering 
and weeding around).  Andrea Arpaci-Dusseau (resident in attendance) indicated that she 
lives on Hunter Hill (north of Harvard Drive) and she had no problems with the work 
being done and understood the benefits of the project.  Her only concern was that larger 
trees would not be removed, because that would open up her view to the Clinic building.  
Overall, the Committee was supportive of the project and would like to continue with 
restoring the site to native vegetation.  The big question was whether the area along 
Harvard Drive should be completed in small sections over the next few years or finished 
all at once in 2016.  C. George reminded the Committee that several neighbors were 
unable to attend this meeting, but wanted to see the plan and provide input.  It was 
recommended that no decisions be made until after the November 9th meeting.  



 

- 2 - 

3. Memorial Brochure and Bench Donation:  At the September meeting, the Committee 
discussed the Madison Community Foundation’s offer to donate a bench and some 
plantings ($1,500 max) in memory of John Peterson.  The Committee suggested having a 
rustic stone bench installed near a proposed walking path in Post Farm Park (east of the 
Community Garden and bike path).  Sue Denholm researched and shared information on 
the bench styles from the Memorial Brochure that was approved by the Committee a few 
years ago.  C. George will check with MCF to see if they will purchase the rustic stone 
bench.  S. Denholm will check with the company that sells the stone bench to check on 
availability and pricing.   

4. Other Parks Updates:  There was nothing discussed at this time. 

5. Future Agenda Items:  

a. Memorial Brochure distribution – The Committee would like to update the 
brochure and look into ways to promote it. 

b. Status of the Post Farm park playground – Nothing was discussed at this time. 

c. Harvard Drive Restoration (U-Station Clinics) – Continue discussion next 
month (November 9th at 5:30 pm). Gather input from neighbors. 

6. Forester’s Report:  R. Lenehan asked for an update on the volunteers.  C. George 
summarized the various volunteer projects going on in the parks.  The volunteers this fall 
are very energetic and productive.   

7. Adjourned: 6:59 pm 

Minutes taken by Corey George 

 




	6Di Res R-2015-10 PARC Grant
	6Dii Res R-2015-11 Insurance Opt Out
	6Diii PSA Carlson Dettmann
	6Div CSM for 4610 Univ
	6Dv Vierbicher-Annual TID Review
	8 Personnel Minutes
	8 Personnel 150715.pdf
	8 Personnel 150729.pdf
	8 Personnel 150924.pdf

	8 Finance Minutes
	8 Fin Minutes 150916.pdf
	8 Fin Minutes 150929.pdf

	8 Public Works Minutes
	8 PW Minutes 150526.pdf
	8 PW Minutes 150608.pdf
	8 PW Minutes 150713.pdf
	8 PW Minutes 150914.pdf

	8 Services Minutes
	8 Parks Minutes
	8 Parks Minutes 150914.pdf
	8 Parks Minutes 151012.pdf

	8 z League Check


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




